A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Appellant below Leo McMilian seeks revtew of the Court of 

Appeals decision in this matter. 1 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals filed its unpublished decision on November 

3, 2014. A copy of this decision is at Appendix A. McMilian's timely 

motion to publish was denied on December 5, 2014. A copy of the order 

denying publication is at Appendix B. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. When a substitute hearing examiner who is reviewing only 
the paper record reverses the credibility findings of the examiner who 
actually presided over the hearing, does that action contravene the 
opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals regarding credibility 
determinations being the province of the presiding factfinder? 

2. When a substitute hearing examiner who is reviewing only 
the paper record reverses the credibility findings of the examiner who 
actually presided over the hearing, does that action contravene the due 
process clauses of the Washington and United States Constitutions? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Leo McMilian owns two adjacent parcels on the west side of 

Enchanted Parkway South in the unincorporated area east of Federal Way, 

in King County. CP 330. McMilian operates an automobile wrecking 

yard on both parcels. CP 263. In March 2002, McMilian purchased the 

1 Defendant below Sherry McMilian has not sought review. 
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automobile wrecking business, believing that he was purchasing an 

operation that included the storage yard on the southern parcel, which is 

the parcel at issue in this case. CP 330. Upon purchasing the business, 

McMilian discovered that the prior owner, Ritchie Horan, did not hold 

title to the subject parcel, but used the subject parcel as a storage yard 

from 1977 through 2002. CP 330. McMilian purchased the subject parcel 

in August of 2002, just five months after purchasing the business and 

continued to use the subject parcel in precisely the same manner and 

function as every prior owner of the business had, as a storage yard for the 

ongoing auto wrecking business. CP 334-337. 

The northern parcel has been used as a wrecking yard business 

since prior to 1958. CP 263. In 1958, King County implemented new 

ordinances that zoned the parcels as residential. CP 263. The wrecking 

yard on the northern parcel is a valid nonconforming use. CP 263. Prior 

owners of the northern parcel had also used the southern parcel for the 

wrecking yard business and, thus, the wrecking yard "bulged" past the 

northern parcel's property lines. CP 263. 

McMilian and the predecessor owners enjoyed loyal customers 

who patronized the wrecking yard in search of parts for decades. Those 

witnesses testified to continuously observing use of the subject parcel in 

conjunction with the auto wrecking business. CP 800-807. These 
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witnesses' affidavits were provided to King County's Department of 

Development and Environmental Services ("DDES"), upon its request, 

attesting to their long-term familiarity with the subject parcel, and its 

continual use as a storage yard for its adjoining auto wrecking business. 

CP 800-807. 

In approximately March of 2005, McMilian wanted to remove 

some of the overgrown vegetation on the subject parcel in order to 

facilitate the removal of tens of thousands of tires lying beneath the 

vegetation, and to help facilitate more efficient use of the parcel for his 

auto wrecking operation. CP 334-337. McMilian hired Tim Pennington 

to remove several large tree stumps that had been felled for lumber years 

before. CP 334-335. Pennington pushed the alders and underbrush to the 

west of the subject parcel in order to provide for more efficient use and 

maintenance of the subject parcel. CP 335-336. 

McMilian discovered massive amounts of auto parts stored upon 

the subject parcel, some clearly dating back to the 1930s. CP 331. For 

example, he found antique auto parts, including bus wheels that were so 

old they had wooden spokes. CP 331. Among other auto parts, he found 

and removed over 24 million pounds of tires alone that cost $37,199.67 to 

remove. CP 398; 335. The sheer volume of parts attests to the long term 

use of the subject parcel as an auto wrecking yard; one cannot possibly 

Petition for Review - 3 



acquire millions of pounds of tires without accumulating them for many, 

many years. The car parts he and his predecessor, Mr. Horan, discovered 

on the subject parcel demonstrate the long-standing use of the site as a 

wrecking yard: they found parts from an Essex (produced from 1918 to 

1922, when it was assumed by Hudson, that produced it until 1932), the 

Model A (1927-1931) and the Model T Ford (1908-1927). CP 331. 

After the clearing, the storage yard that existed on the subject 

parcel for over 60 years was far more visible to the adjoining 

neighborhood. CABR page 15 of 25; 32 of 34.2 In 2005, King County 

DDES inspectors inspected the Property in response to complaints from 

the neighbors that McMilian had cleared the Property. CABR KC-00067. 

The inspectors concluded that the extent ofMcMilian's clearing warranted 

the issuance of a clearing/grading permit from King County DDES. !d. A 

case was opened. On June 29, 2005, King County employee Tijerina 

noted he required a notarized affidavit from McMilian that describes the 

use of the subject parcel to verify dates of operation. CABR KC-00068. 

On July 14, 2005, Tijerina noted that the clearing/grading permit had been 

issued and was awaiting documentation regarding the legal 

2 Although specifically designated by the Appellant, the Administrative Record 
was apparently not included as part of the record that was submitted to this Court. 
Appellant will rectify this error and will file a praecipe with an amended opening brief to 
include complete references to the Administrative Record once it is part of the clerk's 
papers. 
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nonconforming use of the subject parcel. CABR KC-00069. In late July, 

McMilian submitted five affidavits from individuals with knowledge of 

the subject parcels' continuous use as a wrecking yard storage facility and 

wrecking yard office site dating back to before changes in zoning dating in 

1958. CP 800-807. On January 27, 2006, some five and a half months 

later, inspector Robert Manns claims that the "issued permit" entry by 

Tijerina was erroneous, but gave no further explanation. CABR KC-

00069. On January 26, 2007, one year later, DDES Supervisor Randy 

Sandin, issued a letter to Bruce McVeigh stating that the affidavits 

submitted with the clearing/grading packet are insufficient to establish 

nonconforming use. CABR KC-00055-59. On September 11, 2007, after 

another nine months, and after nearly two and a half years had lapsed, the 

DDES issued the Notice and Order to McMilian that was the genesis of 

this appeal. CABR KC-0005-7. 

The specific violation that was cited by King County DDES which 

is relevant in this appeal is as follows: 

CP42. 

Operation of an auto wrecking business from a 
residential site that does not meet the requirements 
for a home occupation in violation of Section 
21A.30.080 (and the allowed use section that the 
use would be under such as contractor's storage 
yard etc) of the King County Code. 
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The Court of Appeals decision in the first appeal was filed on May 

2, 2011. CP 40. The opinion stated, "Because the hearing examiner 

herein improperly presumed that the user of neighboring land was 

trespassing, we remand for additional findings on the issue of whether a 

valid nonconforming use existed." CP 41. The opinion further stated, 

"The hearing examiner did not make any finding with regard to whether 

the wrecking yard use was established on the southern parcel prior to 

1958, only that it 'has long been conducted' on the northern parcel and 

that some spillover had occurred onto the southern parcel." The issue on 

remand was very limited, "We remand to the hearing examiner for a 

decision, based on the existing record, as to whether McMilian established 

that the wrecking yard use was extant on the southern parcel prior to 

1958." CP 62. A mandate was issued on June 21, 2011. CP 288. 

The presiding Hearing Examiner, Peter Donahue, did nothing in 

response to the mandate. His term ended on June 15, 2012. CP 519. 

Prior to the termination of his position, King County Council's Chief of 

Staff asked Stafford L. Smith for help. Slip op. at 4. At the time of this 

assignment, Peter Donahue was still employed as the Chief Examiner. !d. 

Over one year after the mandate had been issued, on June 28, 

2012, Hearing Examiner Smith submitted a Supplemental Report and 

Decision on Remand. CP 67. Hearing Examiner Smith reviewed the 
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record of the administrative hearing, discredited all of McMilian's 

testimonial and documentary evidence, and based his decision solely upon 

his own opinion of his interpretation of two exhibits. CP 74. Hearing 

Examiner Smith determined that McMilian failed to sustain his burden to 

show a legal nonconforming use of the southern parcel as a storage yard. 

CP 75. 

McMilian appealed Hearing Examiner Smith's decision, for the 

second time, in King County Superior Court. The Honorable LeRoy 

McCullough entered an Order affirming Hearing Examiner Smith's 

decision, finding that it "was supported by substantial evidence." CP 996-

999. McMilian appealed to Division I of the Washington Court of 

Appeals, which affirmed in an unpublished decision. The Court of 

Appeals concluded that there was no error in the handling of the matter on 

remand. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

Administrative due process may not be the most headline-grabbing 

judicial topic this Court confronts, but the proper functioning of 

administrative tribunals is fundamental to the average person's experience 

with their government. For many citizens, the only "day in court" they 

will ever see is the inside of an administrative office where their 

fundamental rights and property interests are adjudicated, often without 
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the benefit of legal representation. Quasi -judicial administrative 

proceedings are important to those whose interests are at stake. Even if 

many of the procedural and evidentiary rules that apply to courts are 

waived or modified, fundamental notions of fairness and due process must 

always be followed. 

One of those fundamental principles is that only a trier of fact that 

has actually heard witnesses testify may assess their credibility. Another 

is that once a trier of fact has found evidence to be credible, that finding 

may not be reversed later by a different factfinder who did not hear the 

testimony. In the context of a land use decision, such a procedure not only 

contradicts established precedent, it rises to the level of a due process 

violation. 

(1) The Court of Appeals Opinion Conflicts with Opinions of 
this Court and the Court of Appeals Regarding Credibility 
Determinations, Review Should Be Granted Under RAP 
13 .4( a) and {b) 

Only the actual trier of fact is entitled to deference on matters of 

credibility. A reviewing court "view[s] the evidence and any reasonable 

inferences in the light most favorable to the party that prevailed in the 

highest forum exercising fact finding authority." City of Medina v. T-

Mobile USA, Inc., 123 Wn. App. 19, 24, 95 P.3d 377 (2004). This is 

because when reviewing factual issues under the substantial evidence test, 
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the rev1ewmg court defers to "the fact finder's v1ews regarding the 

credibility of witnesses and the weight to be given reasonable but 

competing inferences." City of University Place v. McGuire, 144 Wn.2d 

640, 652, 30 P.3d 453 (2001); see also Osorio v. I.NS, 99 F.3d 928 (9th 

Cir., 1996). 

Determining credibility is a critical part of the fact finder's role: 

[His determination] necessarily requires a process of 
weighing, comparing, testing, and evaluating-a function 
best performed by the trier of the fact, who usually has the 
advantage of actually hearing and seeing the parties and the 
witnesses, and whose right and duty it is to observe their 
attitude and demeanor. 

Proctor v. Huntington, 146 Wn. App. 836, 846, 192 P .3d 958 (2008) aff'd, 

169 Wn.2d 491, 238 P.3d 1117 (2010) (internal quotations and citations 

omitted). Fact finders consider many factors when determining whether 

evidence is credible, including demeanor, bias, opportunity, capacity to 

observe and narrate the event, character, prior inconsistent statements, 

contradiction, corroboration, and plausibility. Fact finders are in the best 

position to resolve issues of credibility and determine how much weight to 

give evidence because they see and hear the witnesses: 

. . . A witness's demeanor includes the expressions of his 
countenance, how he sits or stands, whether he is 
inordinately nervous, his coloration during critical 
examination, the modulation or pace of his speech and 
other non-verbal communication. 

Petition for Review - 9 



In re Detention of Stout, 159 Wn.2d 357, 382-83, 150 P.3d 86 (2007) 

(internal citations omitted). See also, Hearne v. Chicago School Reform 

Bd. of Trustees of Bd. of Educ. for City of Chicago, 322 Ill.App.3d 467, 

749 N.E.2d 411 (Ill.App. 1 Dist., 2001). 

The Court of Appeals improperly concluded that the issue of 

Examiner Smith's disregard of all of McMilian's evidence was 

"theoretical" because he only discounted McMilian's testimony on 

credibility grounds. Slip op. at 7 n.3, 17. As explained below, this is 

incorrect. 

Credibility was not a collateral issue in this case; it was at the heart 

of McMilian's evidence. The only witnesses to the use of the subject 

parcel during the time period at issue, from 1958 to the present date, were 

McMilian's witnesses. The importance of Ritchie Horan's testimony 

cannot be overstated. He was the only live witness who had personal 

knowledge of the use of the subject parcel as a storage yard from the time 

he was a young boy in 1956, through the time of his purchase in 1977, and 

sale in 2001. (CABR page 65-70 of 112). Both the presiding hearing 

examiner and the pro tem hearing examiner recognized the importance of 

assessing the credibility of his testimony. (CP 25-26; 72-73). During 

cross examination, King County's attorney even acknowledged that 

Ritchie Horan's personal knowledge of the property was superior to any 
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other witness: "[Y]ou may be able to tell us more about these Exhibits 

than anybody else." (CABR page 80 of 112). 

Ritchie Horan testified about his intimate knowledge of the 

property from 1956, the length of time the wrecking yard business had 

been operating and spilling over to the subject parcel, as well as the degree 

and manner in which the use of the subject parcel had been consistently 

used for storage of automobile parts. (CABR page 65-70 of 112). In 

order to reach a conclusion that the property had not been used as a 

storage yard in conjunction with the wrecking yard on the adjoining 

parcel, Ritchie Horan's testimony would have to be completely 

discredited. One cannot give complete credence to Ritchie Horan's 

detailed testimony, as the presiding hearing examiner did, CP 25-26, yet 

find that the subject parcel was not continually used as a storage yard from 

1956 through the present date, as the pro tern hearing examiner did. One 

cannot deem that the 1960 aerial photograph, CP 94-95, is conclusive 

evidence of the degree of use of the subject parcel during the period of 

1956 through 2001, without completely disregarding Ritchie Horan's 

testimony, as the pro tern hearing examiner did. 

Contrary to the credibility determinations of Hearing Examiner 

Donahue, Hearing Examiner Smith completely dismissed all evidence that 

supported McMilian (oral testimony, written testimony, and supporting 
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documents) in its entirety based on credibility determinations. Hearing 

Examiner Smith based his decision on untenable grounds as he attempted 

to resolve what he perceived as conflicting testimony, evaluated the 

veracity of witness testimony and documentary evidence, and weighed the 

persuasiveness of that evidence, which are all functions of a trier of fact 

that is in a position to evaluate credibility. 

Hearing Examiner Donahue, the trier of fact, found Ritchie 

Horan's testimony to be credible. His testimony was supportive of the 

length of time the business had been operating and spilling over to the 

storage yard, as well as the degree and manner in which the use of the 

southern parcel had been consistently used for storage. Hearing Examiner 

Donahue repeatedly quoted Ritchie Horan in his Conclusion of Law No. 2 

as evidence of the lack of "hostility" with the neighbors, in his analysis of 

adverse possession. CP 111-112. 

In sharp contrast, Hearing Examiner Smith discounted Ritchie 

Horan's testimony because of his personal impression that Ritchie Horan 

was "struggling to reconcile" the 1945 King County archive photograph of 

an office shed (which is about two inches by three inches, in black and 

white) with his past recollection of the "little shanty building [with] a 

stove in it." CP 71. Although Ritchie Horan affirmed that the house to 

the left ofthe photograph would have been the neighbor's house, and that 
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the office building on the southern lot was the one that he had tom down, 

and that but for the density of trees and brush, the "terrain is right," 

Hearing Examiner Smith dismissed the testimony, stating, "This hardly 

qualifies as a strong positive identification." CP 71. 

Ultimately, Hearing Examiner Smith disregarded Ritchie Horan's 

testimony altogether, when he held, "The only reliable items of evidence 

in the record relating to the 1958 timeframe are the 1960 aerial photograph 

appearing as exhibit no. 21 and the exhibit no. 11 assessor records from 

the King County archives." CP 74. Hearing Examiner Smith held that the 

testimony of all of the witnesses, including Ritchie Horan's testimony, 

was "unreliable individually and collectively . . . vague, generalized, 

speculative, and frequently self-serving." CP 75. After assessing the 

credibility of the testimony, and discrediting every bit of it, Hearing 

Examiner Smith reached a conclusion that the testimony did "not 

constitute substantial and reliable evidence of a nonconforming use." CP 

75. 

In another example of credibility reversals, Hearing Examiner 

Smith's Finding of Fact #11 properly reflects that King County conceded 

that the Mecklenberg affidavit, which was presented by McMilian, 

"should be viewed as reliable," but his Finding of Fact #12 then 

characterizes that same affidavit as "sufficiently defective as to preclude 
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placing reliance upon" it. CP 70. 

Although nothing prevents a substitute hearing examiner from 

making a factual determination based on the written record alone, 

reversing the previous hearing examiner's credibility determinations based 

on a written record contradicts long-standing Washington opinions 

regarding credibility determinations. 

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(a) and (b) to 

resolve the issue of whether a substitute factfinder can reverse the hearing 

factfinder' s credibility determinations without holding a new hearing. 

(2) The Court of Appeals Opinion Involves a Significant 
Question of Law Under the Washington and United States 
Constitutions 

Land use decisions must comply with constitutional due process 

protections: 

Land use regulations may be challenged as 
unconstitutional takings, violations of substantive 
due process, or both. When a party challenges a 
land use regulation on both grounds, we analyze the 
takings claim first. Even if a land use regulation 
does not amount to a taking, it must still comply 
with the substantive due process requirements of the 
fifth and fourteenth amendments to the United 
States Constitution. 

Peste v. Mason County, 133 Wn. App. 456, 470, 136 P.3d 140 (2006) 

(internal citations omitted). 

Washington recognizes legal nonconforming uses as "vested 
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rights" that cannot be taken away without the municipality having first 

satisfied a high burden of proof. Van Sant v. City of Everett, 69 Wn. App. 

641, 649, 849 P.2d 1276 (1993). "A nonconforming use is a use which 

lawfully existed prior to the enactment of a zoning ordinance, and which is 

maintained after the effective date of the ordinance, although it does not 

comply with the zoning restrictions applicable to the district in which it is 

situated." Rhod-A-Zalea & 35th, Inc. v. Snohomish County, 136 Wn.2d 1, 

6, 959 P.2d 1024 (1998) (quoting 1 ROBERT M. ANDERSON, 

AMERICAN LAW OF ZONING §.01 (Kenneth H. Young ed., 4th ed. 

1996). 

McMilian's federal and state constitutional due process rights are 

squarely at issue. Washington law offers more protection of real property 

rights in order to place "greater emphasis on certainty and predictability in 

land use regulations." Abbey Rd. Grp., LLC v. City of Bonney Lake, 167 

Wash. 2d 242, 250-51, 218 P.3d 180 (2009). These concepts are "rooted 

in notions of fundamental fairness . . . [and recognize that property] rights 

can represent a valuable and protectable property interest." !d. Although 

the focus of the Washington Supreme Court in Abbey was the vesting of 

development rights, the legal principles involved are identical when 

considering the property interest of McMilian in continuing to operate an 

ongoing business despite a change in local zoning ordinances. 
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Due process requires governments to treat citizens in a 
fundamentally fair manner. Consequently, citizens must be 
protected from the fluctuations of legislative policy, so that 
they can plan their conduct with reasonable certainty as to 
the legal consequences. Property development rights 
constitute "a valuable property right." 

Valley View Indus. Park v. City of Redmond, 107 Wn.2d 621, 636, 733 

P .2d 182 (1987) citing West Main Associates v. City of Bellevue, 106 

Wn.2d 47, 51, 720 P.2d 782 (1986). 

In West Main, this Court expressly reminded lower tribunals that 

land use decisions should always be rooted in the notion that the rights of 

ownership, not just the vagaries of changing regulations: 

Despite the expanding power over land use exerted by all 
levels of government, "[t]he basic rule in land use law is 
still that, absent more, an individual should be able to 
utilize his own land as he sees fit. U.S. Const. amends. 5, 
14." Norco Constr., Inc. v. King Cy., 97 Wash.2d 680, 684, 
649 p .2d 103 (1982). 

West Main, 106 Wn2d at 50. 

Due process is implicated in the administrative decision at issue, 

because findings regarding McMilian's credibility, and that of his 

evidence, were reversed by Hearing Examiner Smith without notice and 

opportunity to be heard on the issue. In the absence of an express adverse 

credibility determination by a factfinder, an agency cannot make a 

subsequent adverse credibility determination against a party "without 

providing him with notice that his credibility was at issue and in what 

Petition for Review - 16 



specific respect his credibility was being questioned." Mendoza 

Manimbao v. Ashcroft, 329 F.3d 655, 659 (9th Cir. 2003). 

Here, as explained supra, substitute factfinder Smith reversed the 

credibility determinations of the hearing factfinder Donohue. Hearing 

examiner Smith did this without offering McMilian any notice or 

opportunity to challenge this new credibility assessment. That action was 

a due process violation, and review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

F. CONCLUSION 

Credibility determinations are at the heart of the factfinding 

process. They are reserved for those who have heard witness testimony 

precisely because it is that person who is most capable of making them. 

To allow a substitute factfinder to reverse a hearing examiner's credibility 

findings contravenes case law and the constitution. Review should be 

granted. 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

LEO MCMILlAN, an individual, 

Appellant, 

v. 

KING COUNTY, a Washington 
municipal corporation, 

Respondent, 

SHERRY MCMILlAN, an individual, 

Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) ________________________ ) 

DIVISION ONE 

No. 70515-6-1 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

FILED: November 3, 2014 

DWYER, J. -In McMilian v. King County, 161 Wn. App. 581, 605,255 

P .3d 739 (2011) (hereinafter McMilian 1), we remanded this land use dispute to 

the county "hearing examiner for a decision, based on the existing record, as to 

whether McMilian established that the wrecking yard use was extant on the 

southern parcel prior to 1958." The hearing examiner determined the question 

adversely to McMilian. Finding no error in the procedure employed or the 

determination made, the superior court affirmed the hearing examiner's 

decision-as do we. 

Leo McMilian owns two adjacent parcels of land in unincorporated King 

County. He currently operates an automobile wrecking yard on both parcels. 
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McMilian purchased the northern parcel and the wrecking yard business

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