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

IV. ARGUMENT 

This case does not merit discretionary review. McMilian simply 

failed to meet his burden to prove that a wreckii1g yard use existed on the 

subject parcel in 1958. McMilian was provided with a full, fair, and 

extensive administrative process. 

A. Smith's decision on remand that a wrccldng yard 
usc wns not established on the subject pa1·cel prior 
to 1958 was consistent with the Court of Appeal's 
mandate, Donahue's findings, and legally correct, 
and it does not 1·aise general policy concerns about 
the adminish·ative process or otherwise me1·it review 
under RAP 13.4. 

26 App. 8 at CP: 7517. 
27 CP: 99716, slip op. at 14-17. 
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The McMilian I Court remanded because "[t]he hearing examiner 

did not make any finding with regard to whether the wrecking yard use 

was established on the southerh parcel prior to 1958, only that it 'has long 

been conducted' on the northern parcel and that some spillover had 

occurred onto the southern parcel."28 Smith properly analyzed the 

administrative record as directed by the Court of Appeal's clear mandate. 

Nonconforming uses are inconsistent with the public interest,29 

thus McMilian had the burden to prove that a wrecking yard use existed in 

1958, when the area zoning was adopted and that the use was more than 

intermittent and occasional at the time.30 "A nonconforming use is 

defined in terms of the use of the property lawfully established and 

maintained at the time the zoning was imposed."31 Smith evaluated all of 

the evidence in the record, and correctly focused his attention on evidence 

relevant to 1958. 

The 1960 aerial photograph showing the wrecking yard parcel next 

to the vegetated subject parcel, the 1945 tax record showing and 

describing a residence on the subject parcel, and the Mecklenburg 

28 McMilian, I 6 I Wn. App. at 603 (emphasis in original). 
29 Rhod-A-Zalea & 35th, Inc. v. Snohomish County, 136 Wn. 2d I, 7-8,959 P.2d 1024, 
1027 (1998) (citing I Robert M. Anderson, American Law of Zoning§ 6.01 (4th ed. 
1996). 
3° First Pioneer Trading Company v. Pierce County, 146 Wn.App. 606, 614, 191 P.3d 
928 (2008); North/South Airpark Association v. Haagen, 87 Wn.App. 765, 772, 942 P.2d 
I 068 ( 1997). 
31 Meridian Minerals Co. v. King County, 61 Wn.App. 195,207,810 P.2d 31. 
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affidavit each provide specific information regarding the condition of the 

subject parcel at the relevant time.32 Evidence of Ritchie Horan's 

childhood recollections of the wrecking yard was much less clear 

regarding the status of the subject parcel. Smith did not find that Horan 

was not credible, but instead concluded that his testimony was not entitled 

to very much weight. 33 

McMilian mischaracterizes Smith's decision as "completely 

disregarding" Horan's tcstimony.34 Smith considered Horan's testimony 

regarding his childhood memories of visiting the wrecking yard parcel, 

and noted that Horan "seemed to have a clear recollection of entering into 

some sort of building. "35 However, Smith also cited Horan's testimony 

that when he visited the wrecking yard he " ... was unaware of property 

lines ... ,"36 which emphasized the limited value of his testimony. Smith 

considered Horan's testimony fully, but concluded that it "hardly qualifies 

32 See App. C. 
33 See App. B. 
34 Petition for Review at I I. 
35 Slip op. at 8 
36 kh 
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as a strong positive identification."37 38 
· 

McMilian's claim that Donahue, in theoretical contrast to Smith, 

"gave complete credence"39 to Horan's testimony borders on a statement 

of fiction. Donahue's limited discussion of the use of the subject property 

is consistent with Smith's conclusions. Donahue found: 

J7 Id. 

During prior ownerships, some spillover of the auto 
wrecking operation occurred on the subject property, which 
was not owned by the prior ownerships of the auto 
wrecking business (it was purchased by [McMilian] after 
[the] purchase of the main Astra Auto Wrecking site . 
abutting to the north). The spillover consisted of storage of 
some wrecked and dismantled cars and numerous junk auto 
parts and tires. The property was not utilized in active auto 
wrecking operations as was the main operation to the 
north.40 

JR Smith also considered evidence regarding McMilian's 2005 cleanup effort, but 
concluded that it was not particularly probative. The evidence of recycled materials and 
photographs of tires to be removed did not distinguish from which parcel they came. 
Hearing Exhibit No. 14, heavily relied on by McMilian, details items recycled by 
McMilian's company, Astro Auto Wrecking, but sheds no light on whether the recycled 
items were removed tl·om the wrecking yard parcel or the subject parcel as pa1t of the 
clean-up effort, or if the materials were merely recycled as part ofMcMilian's on-going 
auto wrecking business. Furthermore, McMilian's testimony describing massive amounts 
of wreckage removed from the subject parcel conflicted with that of his own witness, 
Tim Pennington. Pennington, who McMilian hired to clear the subject parcel, 
acknowledged that there were just one or two cars recovered from the subject property, 
that there were only a few parts found spread out, and a maximum of700-800 tires. 
Pennington's testimony was consistent with that of wrecking yard neighbors who 
described the subject parcel as exhibiting a tree cover twenty feet high, no visible auto 
wreckage prior to the 2005 clearing activity, and a series of aerial photographs showing 
minor incursions as discussed by Examiner Smith. 
39 Petition for Review at II. 
~o CP: 24. 
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Donahue made no finding regarding the timing that spillover began or the 

credibility of any witness.41 Donahue considered, but rejected Horan's 

testimony regarding his adverse possession theories.42 Donahue 

concluded that "[t]he subject property does not benefit from a 

nonconforming use right to an auto wrecking yard or an auto storage 

yard."43 

Smith's Decision does not and could not conflict with any aspect 

of Donahue's, because the Court of Appeals directed Smith to resolve a 

factual issue upon which Donahue's decision was silent. The Comt of 

Appeals remanded the matter to the hearing examiner to determine, based 

on the existing record, "whether McMilian met his burden to establish that 

the wrecking yard use was extant on the southern parcel prior to 1958."44 

Smith found that McMilian failed to meet his burden. The fact that 

McMilian lost his case does not create a concem about the fairness of the 

extensive administrative process he received. 

B. McMilian's case does not present a substantial issue 
of constitutional law because he was proYided with a 
full, fair and extensive process. 

McMilian's constitutional claims are without legal support. 

McMilian received, and continues to receive, a full and fair opportunity to 

41 CP: 251 13. 
42 App. A. at page 4, 1 I, CP 25. 
43 CP:2613. 
44 McMilian I, 161 Wn.App. at 605. 
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present his case. Procedural due process constrains governmental decision 

making that deprives individuals of property interests within the meaning 

of the Due Process Clause.45 It is a flexible concept.46 The essential 

elements are notice and an opportunity to be heard.47 Determining what 

process is due requires consideration of the private property interest 

involved, the risk of erroneous deprivation, and the govermnental interest 

involved.48 

The exceptionally small risk of erroneous deprivation in 

McMilian's case is highlighted by the fact that he did not object to any 

aspect of the remand process until after Smith's decision was issued. 

McMilian's theory that Smith reversed any credibility call made by 

Donahue is simply not supported by the administrative record. Instead, 

Donahue's decision is silent with regard to witness credibility or the status 

of the subject parcel in 1958. This Court should conclude that McMilian, 

having been provided with a full testamentary hearing and a second on-

the-record review at the administrative level, two Superior Court appellate 

review processes, and two Court of Appeals appellate processes, all the 

45 See Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S.Ct. 893,47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976). 
46 1d. at 334. 
47 Cleveland Bd. Of Educ. v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532, 542, 105 S.Ct. 1487, 84 L.Ed.2d 
494 ( 1985) (quoting Mulland v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 313, 70 
S.Ct. 652, 94 L.Ed. 865 ( 1950)). 
48 Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. at 335. 
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while maintaining full use of the subject parcel, has been afforded ample 

process and deny his Petition for Review. 

This Court should also hold that the remand process did not violate 

McMilian's right to due process. Although Smith never reversed any 

credibility determination, even if he had it is well established that an 

agency may substitute its judgment for that of an examiner on factual 

questions, including the credibility of witnesses observed by the examiner 

and not by the agency.49 

Due process in administrative proceedings does not require that the 

testimony be evaluated by an officer who heard and observed the 

witnesses. 50 In the circumstance where the original hearing officer is no 

longer available, it does not violate due process to reassign an 

administrative matter to a new officer for additional findings, especially if 

credibility is not a central concern. 51 

In Fife v. Director, Office of Workers' Compensation Programs, 

U.S. Department of Labor, a black lung benefits case, Fife was originally 

awarded benefits, but the case was remanded after the Director appealed. 52 

By the time the case was remanded, the original ALJ had left his position 

49 Federal Communications Comm. v. Allentown Broadcasting Corp., 340 U.S. 358, 75 
S.Ct. 855, 99 L.Ed. 456 ( 195 I). 
50 National Labor Relations Board v. Stocker Mfg. Co, I 85 F.2d 45 I (3'd Cir. 1950). 
51 Fife v. Director. Office of Workers' Compensation Programs, U.S. Dep't of Labor, 888 
F.2d 365 (6111 Cir. 1989). 
52 lQ_. at 366. 
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and so a new ALJ was assigned without notice to Fife. 53 The new ALJ 

issued a decision denying benefits. Fife appealed, arguing that he was 

entitled to notice and that the first ALJ was in a better position to assess 

his credibility. 

The U.S. Court of Appeals upheld the new ALJ's decision. The 

Fife court reasoned that "questions of credibility were not controlling, and 

that the claimant has not made any specific arguments as to why such 

questions are controlling. The new ALJ, in order to address the error 

made by the first ALJ, simply had to evaluate the evidence under a 

different standard. "54 The Court concluded "[t]he chief ALJ acted well 

within his discretion when he appointed the new ALJ."55 

Here, as in Fife, questions of credibility are not controlling. 

Horan's testimony regarding childhood visits to the subject parcel 

specifically disclaimed knowledge of information critical to determination 

of the question Smith was required to resolve, and the remaining evidence 

regarding the timeframe at issue is documentary. McMilian, in contrast to 

Fife, had notice of the remand, an opportunity to provide briefing on the 

remand decision, and notice of Smith's appointment. 

53 ld. at 369-70. 
54 ld. at 370. 
55 ld. 
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McMilian's reliance on the Board oflmmigration Appeals (BIA) 

case of Mendoza Manimbao v. Ashcroft56 is misplaced. As that case 

explains, if the BIA decides an asylum case based on an adverse 

credibility decision that is contrary to that reached by the hearing official, 

the BIA must give the asylum seeker the opportunity to explain any 

discrepancies raised for the first time on appeal. 57 If credibility is a 

determinative factor and the record insufficient, the BIA must remand to 

the hearing official for an inquiry. In Manimbao, the BIA was reversed 

for failing to follow the prescribed administrative process. 

The administrative process and the facts before the Court here are 

completely unlike Manimbao. In this case, the Court of Appeals in 

McMilian I did exactly what the BIA failed to do in Manimbao. Rather 

than deciding an unresolved factual issue it remanded to the hearing 

examiner for further consideration. In this case, unlike in Manimboa, no 

adverse nor contrary credibility determination was ever made, and 

credibility was not a central factor. Also unlike in Manimboa, the 

examiner conducted a nontestimonial status hearing and the parties were 

allowed to submit briefs before the remand decision was issued. 58 

56 329 F.3d 655 (9 111 Cir. 2003). 
57 ld. at 658-659. 
58 CP:217. 

16 



McMilian was provided with a full and fair process. He simply 

failed to prove the existence of a legal nonconforming use on the subject 

parcel. His Petition should be denied. 

C. King County is entitled to reasonable attorney's fees 
under RCW 4.84.370(2). 

A government entity may recover reasonable attorney fees on a 

land usc appeal if it has previously prevailed before an administrative 

body and the superior com1.59 Because King County prevailed before 

Smith, the superior court, and the Court of Appeals this Court should 

award reasonable attorney fees pursuant to RCW 4.84.370(2). 

V. CONCLUSION 

McMilian has failed to meet his burden of law to prove the 

existence of a legal nonconforming use. He has also failed to show a basis 

for further consideration under RAP 13.4. His Petition for Review should 

be denied. 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

59 Jones v. Town of Hunts Point, 166 Wn. App. 452, 463, 272 P.3d 853 (2011).